
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF NORTH DAKOTA 

 

WPX Energy Williston, LLC,   ) 

      ) ORDER GRANTING PLAINTIFF’S   

Plaintiff,   ) MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY  

) INJUNCTION AND DENYING  

vs.     ) DEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS TO  

) DISMISS 

Gabriel Fettig, Howard Fettig, Charles ) 

Fettig, Morgan Fettig, the Honorable  )  

B.J. Jones, in his capacity as Associate  ) 

Judge of the Three Affiliated Tribes  ) Case No. 1:21-cv-145 

District Court, and the Three Affiliated ) 

Tribes District Court,    ) 

      ) 

Defendants.    ) 
  

 

 Before the Court is the Plaintiff’s “Motion for Preliminary Injunctive Relief” filed on 

September 17, 2021.  See Doc. No. 26.  The motion has been fully briefed and is ripe for 

consideration.  Also before the Court are two motions to dismiss the complaint filed by the 

Defendants on August 26, 2021, and September 20, 2021, respectively.  See Doc. Nos. 19 and 28.  

The Court held a hearing on the motion for preliminary injunction on February 24, 2022.  See Doc. 

No. 49.  For the reasons set forth below, the Plaintiff’s motion for preliminary injunction (Doc. 

No. 26) is granted and the motions to dismiss the complaint (Doc. Nos. 19 and 28) are denied.   

 

 I. BACKGROUND 

WPX Energy Williston, LLC (“WPX”) is a Delaware limited liability company with its 

principal place of business in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. WPX is a non-Indian entity.  See Doc. 

No. 1.  Gabriel Fettig, Howard Fettig, Charles Fettig, and Morgan Fettig1 are enrolled members of 

 
1 When referencing Gabriel Fettig, Howard Fettig, Charles Fettig, and Morgan Fettig, the Court will collectively 

refer to them as the “Fettigs.” 
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the Three Affiliated Tribes and believed to reside in North Dakota.  The Honorable B.J. Jones is 

an Associate Judge of the Three Affiliated Tribes District Court (“Tribal Court”) on the Fort 

Berthold Reservation in North Dakota.  The Three Affiliated Tribes District Court on the Fort 

Berthold Reservation is the judicial branch of the Mandan, Hidatsa, and Arikara Nation (“MHA 

Nation”).  Defendants allege they are enrolled members of the Three Affiliated Tribe, owning 

mineral interests “within the exterior boundaries” of the Fort Berthold Indian Reservation.  See 

Doc. No. 24-6.   

The Fettigs own four trust allotments specific to this lawsuit, which were named and 

numbered for oil and gas production by the Bureau of Indian Affairs:  

Allotment 1109A – Lead Woman; 

Allotment 1836-A – Nancy Dancing Bull; 

Allotment 921 – Sweet Grass Woman;  

Allotment 853 – Skunk Creek. 

 

WPX drills and operates oil and gas wells and owns mineral interests within the Fort 

Berthold Reservation.  See Doc. No. 1.  Pursuant to 25 U.S.C. §§ 323-328, the Bureau of Indian 

Affairs (“BIA”) granted rights-of-way to WPX on the Fettigs’ allotments for oil well pads, well 

bores, access roads, pipelines, and other appurtenances.  See Doc. Nos 1-1, 1-2, 1-3, and 1-4.  

Under BIA regulations, WPX was required to obtain the Fettigs’ consent to the rights-of-way.  

Their consent included additional restrictions and conditions negotiated between the Fettigs and 

WPX specific to this case - a smoking ban.  See 25 C.F.R. §§ 169.107 and 169.403(b).   

In an underlying Tribal Court matter, the Fettigs alleged that WPX breached the side letter 

agreements, specifically the smoking ban, and filed suit in Tribal Court in June 2020.  The Tribal 

Court Plaintiffs sought to recover damages for alleged violations of the negotiated rights-of-way 

on four allotments of trust land.  See Doc. No. 24-12.  Specifically, the Tribal Court Plaintiffs 

alleged they entered into “conditional Consents for Right of Way on the Allotments named above 
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but the parties also entered into ‘Side Letter Agreements’ that mandated the treatment of the land.”  

See Doc. No. 24-6.  The mandates of protection included “the type of pipeline to be used, how 

roads would be buil[t], dust control, mitigation of damages, and prohibited hunting and smoking 

and trespassing.”  Id.  WPX agreed to pay $5,000 in sanctions per violation of the smoking ban 

provisions.  Id.  The side letter agreements were incorporated and became part of the rights-of-

way approved by the BIA.  See Doc. No. 1.   

WPX filed a motion to dismiss the Tribal Court action, and a hearing on WPX’s motion to 

dismiss was held in Tribal Court on June 2, 2021.  See Doc. No. 24-12.  On June 4, 2021, the 

Tribal Court issued an opinion, and denied the motion to dismiss, concluding the Tribal Court had 

jurisdiction over the action.  See Doc. No. 24-12.  WPX then appealed the decision of the Tribal 

District Court to the MHA Nation Supreme Court.  The MHA Nation Supreme Court has not 

issued a decision on appeal as of the date of this order. 

Shortly after the Tribal District Court issued its order finding it had jurisdiction over the 

matter, WPX filed this action in federal court against Defendants Gabriel Fettig, Howard Fettig, 

Charles Fettig, Morgan Fettig, the Honorable B.J. Jones, in his capacity as an Associate Judge of 

the Three Affiliated Tribes District Court, and the Three Affiliated Tribes District Court, seeking 

a declaration that the Three Affiliated Tribes District Court lacks jurisdiction over the suit filed by 

the Fettigs.  On August 26, 2021, Defendants B.J. Jones, in his capacity as Associate Judge of the 

Three Affiliated Tribes District Court, and the Three Affiliated Tribes District Court (“Tribal Court 

Defendants”), then filed a motion to dismiss WPX’s complaint.  See Doc. No. 19.  In the motion 

to dismiss, the Tribal Court Defendants contend the action filed in federal court should be 

dismissed because the Court lacks jurisdiction over them.  Id.  On September 20, 2021, the Fettigs 
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filed a motion to dismiss, joining in the Tribal Court Defendants’ motion to dismiss and briefs in 

support of the motion.  See Doc. No. 28.   

On September 17, 2021, WPX filed a motion for preliminary injunction.  See Doc. No. 26.  

In the motion, WPX requests the Court issue a preliminary injunction preventing the Fettigs and 

the Tribal Court Defendants from proceeding further with the underlying Tribal Court action.  A 

hearing on the preliminary injunction was held on February 24, 2022.  See Doc. No. 50.   

 

 II. LEGAL DISCUSSION 

 Before the Court may grant a preliminary injunction, the Court must be satisfied it has 

jurisdiction over the matter. Consequently, the Court first addresses the jurisdictional concerns 

raised by the Defendants in their motion to dismiss (Doc. Nos. 19 and 28). 

 

  A. FEDERAL COURT JURISDICTION 

 The substantive claims of the Plaintiffs rest upon a determination of whether the Tribal 

Court has jurisdiction over the underlying tribal court action.  It is well recognized that the question 

of “[w]hether a tribal court has adjudicative authority over nonmembers is a federal question.”  

Plains Commerce Bank v. Long Family Land & Cattle Co., 554 U.S. 316, 324 (2008).  

Consequently, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, this Court has original jurisdiction.  See 28 U.S.C. § 

1331.  In their motions to dismiss and responses to the motions for preliminary injunction, the 

Defendants contend this Court lacks jurisdiction because: (1) Judge Jones and the Three Affiliated 

Tribes District Court are immune from suit and (2) the Plaintiff failed to exhaust tribal remedies 

before bringing this federal action.   

 

Case 1:21-cv-00145-DLH-CRH   Document 50   Filed 04/20/22   Page 4 of 31



5 

 

 

 

            1. SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY OF JUDGE JONES AND   

    THE THREE AFFILIATED TRIBES DISTRICT COURT 

 

  In the Eighth Circuit, sovereign immunity presents a jurisdictional question.  Hagen v. 

Sisseton-Wahpeton Cmty. Coll., 205 F.3d 1040, 4043 (8th Cir. 2000).  It has been long been 

recognized that Indian tribes possess “common-law immunity from suit traditionally enjoyed by 

sovereign powers.”  Santa Clara Pueblo v. Martinez, 436 U.S. 49, 59 (1978).  Indian tribes may 

not be sued absent an express and unequivocal waiver of immunity by the tribe or “abrogation of 

tribal immunity by Congress.”  Baker Elec. Coop. v. Chaske, 58 F.3d 1466, 1471 (8th Cir. 1994).  

 A tribe’s sovereign immunity extends to tribal officers or agencies. Hagen, 205 F.3d at 

1043 (citing Dillon v. Yankton Sioux Tribe Housing Auth., 144 F.3d 581, 583 (8th Cir. 1998)).  

However, the United States Supreme Court has held that tribal officers are not protected by the 

tribe’s immunity from suits for declaratory or injunctive relief.  Santa Clara Pueblo, 436 U.S. at 

59.  The Eighth Circuit has recognized a tribe’s sovereign immunity is subject to the well-

established exception expressed in Ex Parte Young, 209 U.S. 123 (1908), that “a suit challenging 

the constitutionality of a state official’s action is not one against the State.”  Baker Elec. Coop., 28 

F.3d at 1471.  Consequently, tribal officers may be amenable to suit when the complaint alleges 

the named officer defendants have acted outside the amount of authority that the 

sovereign is capable of bestowing, an exception to the doctrine of sovereign 

immunity is invoked. . . . If the sovereign did not have the power to make a law, 

then the official by necessity acted outside the scope of his authority in enforcing it 

. . . .  

 

N. States Power Co. v. Prairie Island Mdewakanton Sioux Indian Cmty, 991 F.2d 458, 460 (8th 

Cir. 1993) (quoting Tenneco Oil Co. v. Sac & Fox Tribe of Indians, 725 F.2d 572, 574 (10th Cir. 

1984)).  
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 Judge Jones and the Tribal Court contend that as tribal court officers they are cloaked in 

sovereign immunity as there has been no express and unequivocal waiver of immunity by the 

Tribe.  In the complaint, WPX seeks only injunctive and declaratory relief against the Tribal Court 

Defendants.  Pursuant to the holding of Santa Clara Pueblo, 436 U.S. at 59, tribal officials are not 

protected by the tribe’s immunity in this type of suit for declaratory and injunctive relief.  The 

Plaintiffs allege the Tribal Court Defendants, in their official capacities, acted unlawfully by 

permitting the underlying Tribal Court action to proceed.  This Court’s exercise of jurisdiction 

over Judge Jones, in his capacity as Acting Associate Judge of the Three Affiliated Tribes District 

Court, and the Three Affiliated Tribes District Court of the Fort Berthold Indian Reservation, is 

warranted as tribal officials are not immune from suit.  See Michigan v. Bay Mills Indian Cmty., 

134 S. Ct. 2024, 2035 (2014) (concluding “tribal immunity does not bar such a claim for injunctive 

relief against individuals, including tribal officers, responsible for unlawful conduct”).   

    

   2. FAILURE TO EXHAUST TRIBAL REMEDIES 

 The Defendants also contend this Court lacks jurisdiction over this matter because WPX is 

required to exhaust tribal remedies before filing a federal suit, citing National Farmers Union Ins. 

Cos. V. Crow Tribe of Indians, 471 U.S. 845 (1985) (“National Farmers”).  At the hearing on the 

motion for preliminary injunction, counsel for the Tribal Court Defendants argued WPX is 

required to proceed in tribal court until the tribal court addresses the factual challenge to 

jurisdiction, and jurisdiction is a factual determination to be made by the tribal court.  The law in 

the Eighth Circuit requires no such factual challenge to jurisdiction in order to effectively exhaust 

tribal remedies before filing a federal suit.   

Case 1:21-cv-00145-DLH-CRH   Document 50   Filed 04/20/22   Page 6 of 31



7 

 

 In Strate v. A-1 Contractors, the United States Supreme Court concluded National Farmers 

cannot be read to require exhaustion of tribal remedies:  “we do not extract from National Farmers 

anything more than a prudential exhaustion rule . . . .”   520 U.S. 438, 450 (1997).  Since the United 

States Supreme Court’s decision in Strate, the Eighth Circuit has not required litigants to 

adjudicate the full merits of a case in tribal court before a federal court can exercise jurisdiction.  

Instead, “[a] federal court should stay its hand until after the Tribal Court has had a full opportunity 

to determine its own jurisdiction,” but exhaustion of tribal remedies is not required, when it would 

serve no purpose other than delay.  Belcourt Pub. Sch. Dist. v. Herman, 786 F.3d 653, 656 n. 2 

(8th Cir. 2015).  See also Nevada v. Hicks, 533 U.S. 353, 369 (2001). 

 Here, the Tribal Court “had a full opportunity to determine its own jurisdiction.”  See 

Belcourt Pub. Sch. Dist., 786 F.3d at 656 n. 2.  In Belcourt Pub. Sch. Dist., the Eighth Circuit noted 

that non-members exhausted their tribal remedies upon the tribal appellate court determination of 

jurisdiction.  Id.  In this underlying tribal court action, the Three Affiliated Tribes District Court 

determined it had jurisdiction over WPX.  The MHA Nation Supreme Court is still reviewing 

WPX’s appeal.  Based upon the foregoing, the Court is satisfied it has jurisdiction to address 

whether the Tribal Court had adjudicative authority over the underlying claim for breach of a 

rights-of-way entered into pursuant to 25 U.S.C. §§ 323-328 and 25 C.F.R. Part 169.  See Plains 

Commerce Bank v. Long Family Land & Cattle Co., 554 U.S. 316, 324 (2008).  The Court then 

turns to the inquiry of jurisdiction.  

 

  B. TRIBAL COURT JURISDICTION 

 In the complaint, WPX seeks both declaratory and injunctive relief preventing the Tribal 

Court from exercising jurisdiction over the underlying Tribal Court action, and preventing the 
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Tribal Court Plaintiffs from proceeding with the underlying Tribal Court action.  See Doc. No. 1.  

Consequently, in the motion for preliminary injunctive relief, WPX requests a preliminary 

injunction because the Tribal Court lacks jurisdiction over them.   

 It is well-established that the movant has the burden of establishing the necessity of a 

temporary restraining order or a preliminary injunction.  Baker Elec. Coop., Inc. v. Chaske, 28 

F.3d 1466, 1472 (8th Cir. 1994).  “No single factor in itself is dispositive; in each case all of the 

factors must be considered to determine whether on balance they weigh towards granting the 

injunction.”  Id. at 1472. WPX, by separate motion, seeks a preliminary injunction pursuant to 

Rule 65(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The primary purpose of a preliminary 

injunction is to preserve the status quo until a court can grant full, effective relief upon a final 

hearing.  Ferry-Morse Seed Co. v. Food Corn, Inc., 729 F.2d 589, 593 (8th Cir. 1984).  A 

preliminary injunction is an extraordinary remedy, with the burden of establishing the necessity of 

a preliminary injunction placed on the movant.  Watkins Inc. v. Lewis, 346 F.3d 841, 844 (8th Cir. 

2003); Baker Elec. Coop., Inc. v. Chaske, 28 F.3d 1466, 1472 (8th Cir. 1994); Modern Computer 

Sys., Inc. v. Modern Banking Sys., Inc., 871 F.2d 734, 737 (8th Cir. 1989).  The court determines 

whether the movant has met its burden of proof by weighing the factors set forth in Dataphase 

Systems, Inc., v. C L Systems, Inc., 640 F.2d 109, 114 (8th Cir. 1981).  The Dataphase factors 

include "(1) the threat of irreparable harm to the movant; (2) the state of balance between this harm 

and the injury that granting the injunction will inflict on other parties litigant; (3) the probability 

that movant will succeed on the merits; and (4) the public interest."  Id.  "No single factor in itself 

is dispositive; in each case all of the factors must be considered to determine whether on balance 

they weigh towards granting the injunction."  Baker Elec. Coop., Inc., 28 F.3d at 1472 (quoting 
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Calvin Klein Cosmetics Corp. v. Lenox Labs., Inc., 815 F.2d 500, 503 (8th Cir. 1987)); see CDI 

Energy Servs., Inc. v. W. River Pumps, Inc., 567 F.3d 398, 401-03 (8th Cir. 2009). 

 

 

   1. PROBABILITY OF SUCCESS ON THE MERITS 

 

 When evaluating a movant’s likelihood of success on the merits, the court should “flexibly 

weigh the case’s particular circumstances to determine ‘whether the balance of equities so favors 

the movant that justice requires the court to intervene to preserve the status quo until the merits 

are determined.’”  Calvin Klein Cosmetics Corp. v. Lenox Labs., Inc., 815 F.2d 500, 503 (8th Cir. 

1987).  At this stage, the Court need not decide whether the party seeking the preliminary 

injunction will ultimately prevail.  PCTV Gold, Inc. v. SpeedNet, LLC, 508 F.3d 1137, 1143 (8th 

Cir. 2007).  Although a temporary restraining order or a preliminary injunction cannot be issued if 

the movant has no chance on the merits, “the Eighth Circuit has rejected a requirement as to a 

‘party seeking preliminary relief prove a greater than fifty per cent likelihood that he will prevail 

on the merits.’”  Id.  The Eighth Circuit has also held that of the four factors to be considered by 

the district court in considering preliminary injunctive relief, the likelihood of success on the merits 

is “most significant.”  S & M Constructors, Inc. v. Foley Co., 959 F.2d 97, 98 (8th Cir. 1992). 

 The Court must consider the substantive claims in determining whether the Plaintiffs has a 

likelihood of success on the merits.  WPX asserts claims of declaratory and injunctive relief.  See 

Doc. No. 1.  Specifically, WPX seeks a judgment declaring that the Tribal Court lacks jurisdiction 

over them and enjoining the Defendants from prosecuting the underlying action in Tribal Court.  

Id.  A likelihood of success on the merits of even one claim can be sufficient to satisfy the 
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“likelihood of success” Dataphase factor.  See Nokota Horse Conservancy, Inc. v. Bernhardt, 666 

F. Supp. 2d 1073, 1078-80 (D.N.D. 2009).   

 In the motion for preliminary injunction, WPX contends it is able to demonstrate a strong 

likelihood of success on the merits of their claims because: (1) the underlying action gives rise to 

a federal question over which tribal courts lack jurisdiction, and, alternatively, (2) WPX is not 

subject to the Tribal Court’s jurisdiction under the United States Supreme Court decision in 

Montana v. United States, 450 U.S. 544 (1981), precluding the Tribal Court from exercising 

jurisdiction over it.  In response to the motion for preliminary injunctive relief, the Tribal Court 

Defendants contend this Court lacks jurisdiction over the case before it because (1) WPX failed to 

exhaust tribal court remedies, (2) Judge Jones and the Three Affiliated Tribes District Court are 

protected from suit by sovereign immunity, and (3) the Tribal Court holds jurisdiction over this 

matter.  See Doc. No. 38.  In their response to the motion for preliminary injunction, Defendants 

Gabriel Fettig, Howard Fettig, Charles Fettig, and Morgan Fettig concur with the Tribal Court 

Defendants’ briefing and assert the Tribal Court correctly determined its jurisdiction in the 

underlying action under the “consensual relationship” exception to general Montana rule as tribal 

courts are not precluded from hearing cases that present federal questions.  See Doc Nos. 38 and 

42.   

 In the motion, WPX contends it can demonstrate a strong likelihood of success on the 

merits of their claims because: (1) the underlying action gives rise to a federal question over which 

tribal courts lack jurisdiction, and (2) the United States Supreme Court decision in Montana v. 

United States, 450 U.S. 544 (1981) precludes the Tribal Court from exercising jurisdiction over 

the Plaintiffs.  Specifically, the Plaintiffs contend that pursuant to the Eighth Circuit Court of 

Appeals decision of Kodiak v. Burr, 932 F.3d 1125 (8th Cir. 2019) and the United States Supreme 
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Court decision of Nevada v. Hicks, 533 U.S. 353 (2001), tribal courts may not exercise jurisdiction 

over the federal question presented in the underlying action.  The Plaintiffs also contend none of 

the exceptions to the Montana general rule apply to justify the Tribal Court’s exercise of 

jurisdiction over the oil and gas companies.   

 In response, the Defendants present several arguments vesting jurisdiction over this matter 

with the Tribal Court.  Specifically, the Tribal Court Defendants argue this Court lacks jurisdiction 

over the matter and the Tribal Court has authority to adjudicate the issues raised in the underlying 

action, namely the interpretation the rights-of-way agreements and the relevant federal regulations.  

See Doc. No. 38.  The Tribal Court Defendants also argue there is no federal law that preempts 

tribal jurisdiction.  The Fettigs contend WPX’S contentions are inaccurate because they are not 

“alleging violations of ‘Rights-of-Way’ but are seeking compensation based upon an admitted 

violation of a Side Agreement.”  See Doc. No. 42.  The Defendants also argue the exceptions to 

the Montana rule vests jurisdiction over the matter with the Tribal Court. 

   

i. Current Precedent    

The Court first addresses the Plaintiffs’ contention that pursuant to the Eighth Circuit Court 

of Appeals decision in Kodiak v. Burr, 932 F.3d 1125 (8th Cir. 2019) and United States Supreme 

Court decision of Nevada v. Hicks, 533 U.S. 353 (2001), tribal courts are precluded from exercising 

jurisdiction over the federal question presented in the underlying action.  In Kodiak, the Eighth 

Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the decision of this Court granting a preliminary injunction 

enjoining the tribal court from exercising jurisdiction over oil and gas leases on allotted tribal land.  

932 F.3d 1125 (8th Cir. 2019).   
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In Kodiak, four individual members of the Three Affiliated Tribes sued multiple oil and 

gas companies in tribal court, alleging the oil and gas companies were operating wells on the 

reservation that flared natural gas.  Id. at 1130.  The tribal court plaintiffs alleged this was improper 

because the oil and gas companies were not capturing and converting the flared natural gas to 

market it.  Id.  The tribal court plaintiffs wanted to recover royalties for the flared gas.   

The lease executed between the tribal court plaintiffs and the oil and gas companies was 

issued by the U.S. Department of the Interior and Bureau of Indian Affairs and required by the 

Bureau of Indian Affairs.  Id.  The tribal court plaintiffs maintained the oil and gas companies 

breached a provision in the lease which stated, “To exercise reasonable diligence in drilling and 

operating wells for oil and gas . . . having due regard for the prevention of waste of oil or gas 

developed on the land ….”  Id.  The oil and gas companies moved to dismiss the tribal court 

proceeding, arguing the tribal court did not have jurisdiction over them.  The tribal court denied 

the oil and gas companies’ motion to dismiss concluding the tribe could exercise jurisdiction over 

them because they voluntarily entered into a consensual relationship with tribal court plaintiffs.  

Kodiak, 932 F.3d at1130.  The oil and gas companies appealed to the MHA Nation Supreme Court.  

Id.  The MHA Nation Supreme Court dismissed the appeal, stating Montana did not apply or the 

case fell under one of Montana’s two exceptions.  Id.   

Kodiak and EOG each filed suit in federal district court against the tribal court plaintiffs 

and the acting chief judge of the Fort Berthold District Court.  HRC Operating later intervened in 

Kodiak’s case and the cases were eventually consolidated.  The oil and gas companies each argued 

the tribal court lacked jurisdiction over them and sought declaratory and injunctive relief.  This 

Court denied the tribal court judge’s motion to dismiss and granted the oil companies’ motion for 

preliminary injunction.  The tribal court plaintiffs, tribal court judge, and the clerk of tribal court 
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appealed.  Id. at 1130-31.  The Eighth Circuit stated this Court correctly rejected the tribal court 

officials’ argument that the suit was barred by tribal sovereign immunity because the oil and gas 

companies sought declaratory and injunctive relief and did not seek damages.  Kodiak, 932 F.3d 

at 1131.  The Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals further stated the facts of Kodiak fell within the Ex 

parte Young doctrine and the action was not barred by tribal sovereign immunity “because the 

chief district court judge and clerk of court have supervisory and administrative duties related to 

the tribal court case, we conclude they have a sufficient connection to the improper exercise of 

jurisdiction and are properly subject to suit for declaratory and injunctive relief.”  Id. at 1132.   

On appeal, the Eighth Circuit held this Court did not abuse its discretion in granting the 

preliminary injunction in favor of the oil and gas companies because the oil and gas companies 

were likely to succeed on the merits.  Kodiak, 932 F.3d at 1333.  The Eighth Circuit first noted 

this Court correctly decided that the oil and gas companies exhausted their tribal court remedies 

because the oil and gas companies moved to dismiss the case for lack of jurisdiction and appealed 

the issue to the MHA Nation Supreme Court.  Exhaustion of tribal court remedies is “not 

jurisdictional, it is a prudential rule based in ‘[r]espect for tribal self-government,’ allowing ‘the 

tribal court a full opportunity to determine its own jurisdiction.’”  Id.  Exhaustion is not required 

if it is obvious the tribal court does not have jurisdiction, or the only purpose of exhaustion is 

delay.  Id.  The tribal court officials and plaintiffs disagreed and argued tribal court exhaustion was 

not satisfied because the oil and gas companies raised a facial challenge to tribal court jurisdiction.  

The Eighth Circuit disagreed and pointed to its decision in Duncan Energy, stating, “requiring the 

development of a factual record where the jurisdictional challenge does not turn on issues of fact 

would not serve the ‘orderly administration of justice.’”  Id. (citing Duncan Energy Co. v. Three 

Affiliated Tribes of Ft. Berthold Reservation, 27 F.3d 1294, 1300 (8th Cir. 1994)).   
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The Eighth Circuit then turned to the matter of tribal court jurisdiction and held this Court 

correctly concluded the tribal court lacked jurisdiction over the oil and gas companies.  Kodiak, 

932 F.3d at 1134.  The Eighth Circuit held that “as to non-members, tribal courts are not courts of 

general jurisdiction and oil and gas leases on allotted trust lands are governed by federal law, not 

tribal law.”  Id.  In addition, neither of the Montana exceptions as to activities of non-members 

applied.   

On appeal, the oil and gas companies argued the tribal court lacked jurisdiction because 

Congress had not authorized tribal adjudicatory jurisdiction and the issue in the case was a federal 

cause of action.  Id.  The tribal parties argued Hicks must be viewed narrowly, which would allow 

tribal courts to hear federal causes of action in some instances.  The Eighth Circuit agreed with the 

oil and gas companies and concluded the “better reading of Hicks is that, at least where non-

members are concerned, the tribal courts’ adjudicative authority is limited (absent congressional 

authorization) to cases arising under tribal law.”  Kodiak, 932 F.3d at 1135.  The Eighth Circuit 

concluded that exercising power beyond what is essential to “protect tribal self-government or to 

control internal relations is inconsistent with the dependent status of tribes, and so cannot survive 

without express congressional delegation.”  Id. (quoting Hicks, 533 U.S. at 359).   

The Eighth Circuit also specifically held the tribal court plaintiffs’ claim for relief was 

based on federal law because “oil and gas leases on federally-held Indian trust land are governed 

by federal law.”  Id. at 1135-36 (quoting Comstock Oil & Gas Inc. v. Alabama & Coushatta Indian 

Tribes of Tex., 261 F.3d 567-73-75 (5th Cir. 2001); (Gaming World Int’l, Ltd. v. White Earth 

Band of Chippewa Indians, 317 F.3d 840, 847 98th Cir. 2003).  The Eighth Circuit noted that even 

if the tribal court plaintiffs tried to proceed under tribal contract law, the tribal law would have 

been preempted, in addition to being impermissible under Montana and its progeny.  Id. at 1137.   
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In its analysis of Montana, the Eighth Circuit stated in addition to lacking jurisdiction due 

to the federal question, the tribe did not have jurisdiction because “the subject of the dispute was 

outside its legislative jurisdiction.”  Id.  The legislative jurisdiction of a tribe is determined by 

Montana and subsequent cases.  Id.  The Eighth Circuit noted it is well-established that “Indian 

tribes do not, as a general matter, possess authority over non-Indians who come within their 

borders.”  Id. (quoting Plains Commerce Bank v. Long Family Land & Cattle Co., 554 U.S. 316, 

328 (2008); Montana, 450 U.S. at 565.  Montana sets out two exceptions when a tribe may exercise 

civil jurisdiction over non-members; an analysis of Montana is set forth below. 

The Eighth Circuit in Kodiak held the first Montana exception did not apply because, while 

the relationship between the tribal members and the oil and gas companies was consensual, the 

relationship was mediated by the federal government.  Kodiak, 932 F.3d at 1138.  The Eighth 

Circuit held the consensual relationship with the tribe alone was not enough.  Id.  “Even where 

there is a consensual relationship with the tribe or its members, the tribe may regulate non-member 

activities only where the regulation ‘stem[s] from the tribe’s inherent sovereign authority to set 

conditions on entry, preserve tribal self-government, or control internal relations.’”  Id. (quoting 

Plains Commerce Bank, 554 U.S. at 336).  Due to the “complete federal control” of oil and gas 

leasing on allotted lands, the Eighth Circuit held that tribal regulation of oil and gas leasing is not 

necessary for tribal self-government.  Id.  The Eighth Circuit also held the second Montana 

exception did not apply because the dispute regarding the payment of royalties did not threaten or 

have an impact on “political integrity, the economic security or the health or welfare of the tribe.”  

Id. (citing Montana, 450 U.S. at 566).  The Eighth Circuit found the failure of the oil and gas 

companies to pay royalties did not imperil the tribal community, and therefore did not satisfy 

Montana’s second exception.   
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The other relevant case the Court needs to consider is Nevada v. Hicks.  533 U.S. 353 

(2001).  In Hicks, the United States Supreme Court addressed a tribal court’s jurisdiction over a 

state officer enforcing state law on a reservation.  533 U.S. 353 (2001). 

In Hicks, a Nevada state game warden obtained a search warrant from state court for Hick’s 

property after the warden became suspicious of Hicks killing a California bighorn sheep, a gross 

misdemeanor, off the reservation.  Id. at 356.  The state search warrant he obtained required the 

approval of the tribal court before the game warden could execute the warrant.  A search warrant 

was then obtained from the tribal court.  The game warden, accompanied by a tribal police officer, 

searched Hicks’ property, but did not locate the head of any California bighorn sheep.  One year 

later, the warden again obtained a state search warrant for Hicks’ property; however, the warrant 

did not require permission from the tribal court to execute.  Nonetheless, the game warden obtained 

a tribal court search warrant and searched Hicks’ property but was again unsuccessful. 

 Hicks then brought a lawsuit against the tribal court judge, tribal officers, the state wardens, 

in their individual and official capacities, and the State of Nevada in tribal court for trespass to 

land and chattels, abuse of process, and violation of civil rights, each remediable under 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1983.  Id. at 356-57.  During the tribal court proceedings, Hicks’ claims against all defendants 

but the state officials in their individual capacities were either voluntarily dismissed or dismissed 

by the Court.  The state officials and Nevada then filed an action in federal district court, seeking 

a declaratory judgment that the tribal court lacked jurisdiction.  The district court granted summary 

judgment in favor of Hicks and concluded the state officials must exhaust any claims of qualified 

immunity in the tribal court.  The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed, concluding the fact 

that Hicks’ property was located on “tribe-owned land within the reservation is sufficient to 

support tribal jurisdiction over civil claims against nonmembers arising from their activities on 
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that land.”  Id. at 357.  The United States Supreme Court granted certiorari and reversed the 

decision of the Ninth Circuit, concluding the tribal court lacked jurisdiction. 

 In determining the tribal court lacked jurisdiction, the United States Supreme Court in 

Hicks began its analysis by addressing whether the tribe can regulate a state officer executing a 

state search warrant on the reservation.  To answer this inquiry, the Supreme Court looked to the 

previous decision of Montana v. United States, 450 U.S. 544 (1981), and its progeny.  It is well-

established, “absent express authorization by federal statute or treaty, tribal jurisdiction over the 

conduct of nonmembers exists only in limited circumstances.”  Strate, 520 U.S. at 445.  In the 

“pathmarking case” of Montana v. United States, the United States Supreme Court discussed both 

the tribes’ historical loss of many of its attributes of sovereignty, as a consequence of their 

incorporation into the United States, and the tribes’ retention of inherent authority:   

The areas in which such implicit divestiture of sovereignty has been held to have 

occurred are those involving relations between an Indian tribe and nonmembers of 

the tribe . . . 

 

These limitations rest on the fact that the dependent status of Indian tribes within 

our territorial jurisdiction is necessarily inconsistent with their freedom 

independently to determine their external relations.  But the powers of self-

government . . . are of a different type.  They involve only the relations among 

members of a tribe.  Thus, they are not such powers as would necessarily be lost by 

virtue of a tribe’s dependent status. 

 

450 U.S. at 563-65.  Upon this premise, the Supreme Court in Montana concluded the exercise of 

tribal authority beyond the control of internal relations or protection of tribal self-government, 

“cannot survive without express congressional delegation.”   Id. at 565 (emphasis added).  The 

Supreme Court then articulated the now well-accepted rule that “inherent sovereign powers of an 

Indian tribe do not extend to the activities of nonmembers of the tribe.”  Id.  However, the Supreme 

Court added that in certain circumstances, even when Congress has not expressly authorized such 

regulation, Indian tribes retain inherent sovereign authority over non-members:  (1) to regulate, 
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“through taxation, licensing, or other means, the activities of nonmembers who enter consensual 

relationships with the tribe or its members, through commercial dealing, contracts, leases, or other 

arrangements” and (2) “to exercise civil authority over the conduct of non-Indians on fee lands 

within its reservation when that conduct threatens or has some direct effect on the political 

integrity, the economic security, or the health or welfare of the tribe.”  Id. at 565-66.   

 Against this backdrop, the Supreme Court in Hicks first recognized the ‘consensual 

relationship’ Montana exception did not apply to a warden executing a state search warrant within 

the reservation, and continued to determine whether “regulatory jurisdiction over state officers in 

the present context is ‘necessary to protect tribal self-government or to control internal relations’ 

and if not, whether such regulatory jurisdiction has been congressionally conferred.”  533 U.S. 

353, 360.  The Supreme Court ultimately concluded the state of Nevada’s interest in regulating 

poaching outside the reservation does not impair the tribe’s self-government or impede its control 

of internal relations.  Consequently, pursuant to Montana, the tribe’s retained inherent sovereign 

authority does not extend to regulate a state warden’s execution of a state search warrant within 

the reservation.  Id. at 364.   

 Concluding that neither Montana exception applied, the Supreme Court in Hicks then 

considered whether there had been a delegation of tribal authority by Congress over the state 

warden executing a state search warrant on the reservation pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1983.  Id. at 

366-68.  Hicks contended tribal courts are courts of general jurisdiction with authority to entertain 

a federal action brought pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1983.  Id. at 366.  Unlike state courts, where 

jurisdiction is general, a tribal court’s jurisdiction “over nonmembers is at most only as broad as 

its legislative jurisdiction.”  Id.  at 367.  While it is true some federal statutes expressly grant tribal 

courts jurisdiction over issues arising under federal law, no federal law extends tribal courts’ 
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jurisdiction to encompass Section 1983 actions.  Thus, in Hicks, there was no delegation by 

Congress of tribal authority to adjudicate 42 U.S.C. § 1983 civil rights actions.   

This conclusion by the Supreme Court in Hicks was buttressed by the “anomalies” that 

would be created under the federal removal statute, 28 U.S.C. § 1441, if tribal courts were viewed 

as courts of general jurisdiction with adjudicative authority over federal questions.  Section 1441 

permits a parties to remove a matter from state court to federal court if the case involves a federal 

question.  However, if civil rights actions under Section 1983 could be heard in tribal court, 

“defendants would inexplicably lack the right available to state-court § 1983 defendants to seek a 

federal forum.”  Id. at 368. 

WPX asserts that the tribal court lacks jurisdiction in this case because there is no 

congressional authority to adjudicate disputes over the rights-of-way because the rights-of-way are 

created and controlled by federal law pursuant to 25 U.S.C. §§ 323-328 and those cases interpreting 

§§ 323-328.  The Court agrees with the Plaintiff that Kodiak, Hicks, and Montana, clearly establish 

that tribal courts are not courts of general jurisdiction.  However, this alone does not preclude a 

tribal court’s adjudicative authority over a federal question.  The United States Supreme Court 

stated in Montana and related cases, “a tribe’s adjudicative jurisdiction does not exceed its 

legislative jurisdiction.”  Strate, 520 U.S. at 453.  The United States Supreme Court precedent 

instructs the notion that a tribal court’s jurisdiction cannot be general in the same way state courts 

are courts of general jurisdiction.  Although Kodiak and Hicks instruct that tribal courts are not 

courts of general jurisdiction, this Court must determine the scope of the Tribal Court’s jurisdiction 

over a rights-of-way violation (pursuant to 25 U.S.C. §§ 323-328; 25 C.F.R. 169).  The Court thus 

turns to Montana v. United States.   
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 In Montana, the United States Supreme Court articulated the general rule that “the inherent 

sovereign powers of an Indian tribe do not extend to the activities of nonmembers of the tribe,” 

absent express congressional delegation.  Montana, 450 U.S. at 565.  The Supreme Court in 

Montana then outlined two exceptions to this general rule when tribal jurisdiction may extend to 

nonmembers:  

1) “A tribe may regulation, through taxation, licensing, or other means, the activities 

of nonmembers who enter consensual relationships with the tribe or its members, through 

commercial dealing, contracts, leases, or other arrangements[,]” and  

2)  “A tribe may also retain inherent power to exercise civil authority over the conduct 

of non-Indians on fee lands within its reservation when that conduct threatens or has some 

direct effect on the political integrity, the economic security, or the health or welfare of the 

tribe.”   

Id. at 565-66.  These exceptions are “limited ones” and are not to be construed in a manner that 

“swallows the rule.”   Plains Commerce Bank, 554 U.S. at 330 (quoting Atkinson Trading Co. v. 

Shirley, 532 U.S. 645, 647 (2001).   The United States Supreme Court further explained the 

mechanics of applying Montana’s principles in relation to tribal authority arising under federal 

statutes or treaties in Strate:  “As the Court made plain in Montana, the general rule and exceptions 

there announced govern only in the absence of a delegation of tribal authority by treaty or statute.”  

520 U.S. at 449.  Absent the applicability of one of the Montana exceptions or a delegation of 

tribal authority in federal law, Montana’s general rule applies and precludes the Tribal Court’s 

jurisdiction from extending to the activities of WPX as a non-member. 
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   ii. Tribal Court Jurisdiction Under the First Montana Exception 

 

 The first exception articulated in Montana extends tribal jurisdiction to regulate, through 

taxation, licensing, or other means, the “activities of nonmembers who enter consensual 

relationships with the tribe of its members, through commercial dealing, contracts, leases, or other 

arrangements.”  Montana, 450 U.S. at 565.  By its terms, this exception does not grant tribes 

unlimited regulatory or adjudicative authority over non-members, but instead permits the 

regulation of activities.  Plains Commerce Bank, 554 U.S. at 330.  In Montana, the United States 

Supreme Court referenced four cases in explaining this exception.  See Montana 450 U.S. at 565-

66.  Each of those cases cited in Montana “involved the regulation of non-Indian activities on the 

reservation that has a discernible effect on the tribe or its members.”  Plains Commerce Bank, 554 

U.S. at 330 (discussing those cases cited by the Montana Court in support of the first exception to 

the general rule).  As the Supreme Court explained in Plains Commerce Bank, the rationale for the 

Montana exceptions was to ensure tribal regulation of certain activities that “may intrude on the 

internal relations of the tribe or threaten tribal self-rule.”  Id. at 335.  In fact, in Plains Commerce 

Bank, the Supreme Court determined a tribal court lacked jurisdiction over a discrimination claim 

that arose from a sale of land because regulation of such a sale was not an “activity” that implicated 

the tribe’s sovereign interests.  Id. at 335-36.  The plaintiffs’ discrimination claim arose out of a 

land sale of non-Indian fee land within the reservation to a non-member.  Under these 

circumstances, the Supreme Court reasoned the non-Indian fee land was no longer tribal trust land 

and “had been removed from the tribe’s immediate control.”  Id. at 336.   

 It is clear under the Supreme Court’s analysis in Plains Commerce Bank, the first Montana 

exception is triggered when a non-member has a consensual relationship with the tribe or its 

members and such activities arising from the consensual relationship implicate the tribe’s 
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sovereign interests.  Following the rationale of Montana and Plains Commerce Bank, this Court 

concludes that the tribe’s regulation of the parties side letter agreement and rights-of-way allegedly 

breached by WPX does not implicate the tribe’s sovereign interests.  Therefore, even presuming 

consensual relationships between members of the tribe and the Plaintiff exist, the first Montana 

exception is not triggered.   

The Tribal Court Defendants contend the rights-of-way agreement between the Tribal 

Court Plaintiffs and WPX clearly show WPX entered into a consensual relationship with the tribe 

because it is a commercial dealing between a non-member and the tribe or its members.  See Doc. 

No. 38, p. 10.  The Tribal Court Defendants also argue the Tribe’s ability to ensure activities on 

allotted trust lands are conducted in accordance with the rights-of way is central to the Tribe’s 

exercise of self-government.  WPX argues that because Congress has not explicitly delegated 

authority to tribes to adjudicate matters over rights-of-way on allotted land, the Tribal Court 

Plaintiffs’ claims arise under federal, not tribal law.  See Doc. No. 42, p. 2.   

In the underlying tribal court action, the Fettigs seek damages for alleged smoking 

violations of the negotiated rights-of-way on four trust allotments on the Fort Berthold Indian 

Reservation.  See Doc. Nos. 24-11 and 27.  The smoking ban language, is as follows:  

GRANTEE will not allow its employees, representatives, vendors, or others 

to hunt on the premises nor will GRANTEE allow smoking.  Additionally, 

GRANTEE will post “No Hunting”, “No Trespassing” and “No Smoking” 

signs.  If GRANTEE, its employees, representatives, vendors, or others 

smoke on premises, GRANTEE will pay a fine of $5,000 per incident. 

See Doc Nos. 1-1, 1-2, and 1-3.   

At the heart of their tribal complaint, the Fettigs alleged WPX maintained an “industrial 

sized ashtray in a connex structure used as a smoke shack, wherein [WPX]’s employees were 

allowed to smoke at will in violation of the side agreements” in violation of the Side Letter 

Agreements.  See Doc. No. 23-11.  The Side Letter Agreements, entitled “Side Letter Agreement 
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– Consent of Owners for Grant of Right-of-Way,” at issue in the underlying tribal court action are 

letters drafted by WPX and incorporated into the right-of-way grants.   

Pursuant to 25 U.S.C. § 324 and 25 C.F.R. §§ 169.108; 169.403(b); and 169.125(a), WPX 

was required to obtain the Fettigs’ consent to the right-of-ways.  The Fettigs were allowed to 

negotiate with WPX to include additional conditions and restrictions in the right-of-ways.  See 25 

C.F.R. § 169.403(b).  The BIA’s authority to grant right-of-ways, on behalf of the Secretary of the 

Interior, is derived from 25 U.S.C. §§ 323-328 and 25 C.F.R. Part 169.  See Doc. No. 1-1, p. 2.  

The grant of a right-of-way is signed by a representative of the BIA.  In this case, the right-of-way 

was signed by the Acting Superintendent of the Fort Berthold Agency.  Id.   

The federal government has a longstanding history of extensively and exhaustively 

regulating right-of-ways on allotted land.  25 U.S.C. §§ 323-328 were codified in 1948 in order to 

authorize the Secretary of the Interior to grant right-of-ways “for any purpose over all trust and 

restricted Indian lands.”  See generally, Cohen’s Handbook of Federal Indian Law §15.09[4].  

Right-of-ways across tribal trust property must be approved by the tribe.  See U.S.C. § 324; 25 

C.F.R. § 169.3.  In this case, the right-of-ways are for property held in trust for individual Indian 

landowners, therefore, the individual landowners must consent to the right-of-ways and may 

negotiate additional conditions or restrictions.  See 25 C.F.R. §§ 169.08; 169.125(a); 

and169.403(b).  The process for obtaining right-of-ways is enumerated in 25 C.F.R. Part 169, 

Subpart C.  In its order, the Three Affiliated Tribes District Court acknowledged “the execution 

and enforcement of rights-of-way on allotted and trust lands held by the United States for Indian 

tribes and individuals for natural resources extractions is a heavily federally-regulated industry…”. 

See Doc. No. 24-12, p. 3.   
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The extensive federal regulatory scheme that governs right-of-ways over Indian land 

demonstrates that regulation of obtaining, analyzing, and enforcing such right-of-ways lies with 

the federal government, through its various agencies, and is outside the control of tribes.  In 

determining whether WPX breached the side letter agreement and right-of-ways is controlled by 

federal laws and regulations, with the federal government, through its agencies, determining 

compliance with the right-of-ways.  See 25 C.F.R. Part 169, Subpart F.  Although the right-of-

ways undoubtedly involves allotted lands within the Fort Berthold Reservation, the issue which 

the Tribal Court Plaintiffs seek a determination does not implicate tribal governance or internal 

relations.  See Plains Commerce Bank, 554 U.S. at 335.  This case is dissimilar to the cases cited 

in Montana in support of the ‘consensual relationship’ exception because the issue of obtainment, 

enforcement, analysis, and compliance is subject entirely to regulation and enforcement by the 

federal government.   

The Court recognizes that while commercial activities on a reservation may certainly affect 

a tribe’s self-governance and even intrude on the internal relations of the tribe, the specific activity 

from which the Tribal Court Plaintiffs seek relief in this underlying tribal court action is wholly 

regulated, determined, and enforced by the federal government.  Creating and enforcing right-of-

ways on allotted lands held in trust for individual Indians is undoubtedly left to the federal 

government.   

The Court concludes the regulation and enforcement of rights-of-way on allotted lands held 

in trust pursuant to 25 U.S.C. §§ 323-328 and 25 C.F.R. Part 169 is not the type of consensual 

relationship under Montana’s first exception over which a tribe may exercise adjudicative 

authority.   
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   iii. Tribal Court Jurisdiction Under the Second Montana Exception 

 

 The Court next considers whether Montana’s second exception brings this action within 

the Tribal Court’s adjudicative authority.  Pursuant to Montana, a tribe retains inherent power to 

exercise authority over the conduct of non-members “when the conduct threatens or has some 

direct effect on the political integrity, the economic security, or the health or welfare of the tribe.”  

450 U.S. at 566.  In the motion for preliminary injunctive relief, WPX contends this exception 

does not apply.  See Doc. No. 27, p. 10.  In their response to the motion for preliminary injunction, 

the Fettigs assert the second Montana exception applies and allows the Tribal Court to exercise 

jurisdiction.  See Doc. No. 38, p. 10.  Specifically, they contend the heart of the dispute focuses 

on a prohibition of smoking, which has implications for the health and welfare of tribal members.  

Id.   

 The United States Supreme Court’s decisions in Strate and Hicks dictate a narrow 

interpretation of the second Montana exception.  See Hicks, 533 U.S. at 359-61; Strate, 520 U.S. 

457-58.  Both Hicks and Strate also caution that the second exception cannot be interpreted to 

severely shrink Montana’s general rule.  For example, in considering whether tribal courts may 

entertain claims against non-members arising out of accidents on state highways within a 

reservation, the Supreme Court in Strate acknowledged careless driving on a public highway 

running through a reservation certainly jeopardizes the safety of the tribal members, but concluded 

the second exception cannot be interpreted so broadly so as to bring such claims within the 

adjudicative authority of the tribal court.  Strate, 520 U.S. at 457-58.  In Strate, the United States 

Supreme Court cautioned that, read in isolation, the second exception “can be misperceived.”  Id. 

at 459.  Instead, much like the first exception, the second Montana exception must be read in the 

context of those cases cited to support the exception.  See id. at 458-59 (discussing cases cited by 
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Montana Court in support of second exception).  Ultimately, in Strate, the Supreme Court 

concluded the second exception did not apply because “[n]either regulatory nor adjudicatory 

authority over the state highway accident at issues is needed to preserve ‘the right of reservation 

Indians to make their own laws and be ruled by them.’”  Id. at 459 (quoting Williams v. Lee, 358 

U.S. 217, 220 (1959)). 

The Court certainly recognizes that smoking may jeopardize the health of tribal members.  

However, this Court does not interpret the second Montana exception to apply to an extremely 

broad claim to recover monetary damages arising out of a smoking ban from a negotiated right-

of-ways provision under 25 U.S.C. §§ 323-328 and 25 C.F.R. Part 169.  The Tribal Court 

Defendants also argue that because the specific provision of the right-of-way provision at issue is 

a smoking ban, the Tribe’s health and welfare supports tribal jurisdiction.  See Doc. No. 38, p. 10.  

In this context, adjudicative authority over compliance and enforcement of the smoking ban does 

not support the tribes’ right to make their own laws and be governed by them.  The extensive and 

exhaustive federal regulatory scheme applicable to right-of-ways on allotted trust land shows the 

regulation and enforcement of the right-of ways lies solely with the federal government, through 

its various agencies, and outside the control of the tribe.  The determination of whether WPX 

breached the right-of-ways by violating the smoking ban is controlled by federal laws and 

regulations, with the federal government, through its agencies, determining whether damages must 

be paid.  Under such circumstances, when a federal agency has the sole discretion to decide the 

pivotal issue of a matter, neither tribal regulatory nor adjudicative authority over such is needed to 

preserve “the right of reservation Indians to make their own laws and be ruled by them.”  Williams, 

358 U.S. at 220.  Consequently, considering the United States Supreme Court’s narrow 

interpretation of the second Montana exception, the Court cannot say this matter falls within the 
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second exception.  See Hicks, 533 U.S. at 359-61; Strate, 520 U.S. 457-58.  Therefore, the 

Montana rule, and not its exceptions, applies here.     

  

    iv.  Congressional Delegation  

 In Montana, the Supreme Court articulated the general rule that “the inherent sovereign 

powers of an Indian tribe do not extend to the activities of nonmembers of the tribe,” absent express 

congressional delegation.  Montana, 450 U.S. at 565.  Given the Court’s conclusion that the 

Montana general rule, nor its exceptions, applies here, the Court must consider whether there has 

been a congressional direction enlarging tribal court jurisdiction to include actions brought for 

violation of a right-of-ways entered into pursuant to 25 U.S.C. §§ 323-328.  See Kodiak v. Burr, 

303 F.Supp.3d 964, 968 n.2 (D.N.D. March 22, 2018).  Some federal statutes explicitly declare 

tribal court jurisdiction over certain federal law issues.  See e.g., 25 U.S.C. § 1911(a) (declaring 

tribal court authority to adjudicate child custody disputes under the Indian Child Welfare Act of 

1978); 12 U.S.C. § 1715z-13(g)(5) (declaring tribal court authority over mortgage foreclosure 

actions brought by the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development against homeowners on 

reservations).  It is clear to the Court that no provision in federal law provides for tribal court 

jurisdiction over a claim for breach of a right-of-way entered into pursuant to 25 U.S.C. §§ 323-

328 and 25 C.F.R. § 169.  With no express congressional delegation of jurisdiction to the tribal 

court, this Court concludes the tribal court lacks jurisdiction over the claims brought in Tribal 

Court by the Fettigs.   

 

   v. Exhaustion of Administrative Remedies 

 

WPX contends the Tribal Court lacks jurisdiction over the underlying action because the 

Fettigs have not pursued administrative remedies with the BIA.   
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It is clear and undisputed that administrative remedies have not been pursued.  See Doc. 

No. 27.  25 C.F.R Part 2 provides the process for administrative appeals.  The record is devoid of 

any administrative appeal taken by the Tribal Court Plaintiff.  Since the Court has found a strong 

likelihood of success on at least one of the Plaintiff’s claims no further analysis is required at this 

stage.  See Nokota Horse Conservancy, 666 F. Supp. 2d at 1078-80 (finding sufficient likelihood 

of success on the merits of one claim, without a need to undertake extensive review of other 

claims).   

 Based upon the Court’s review of the complaint, the Tribal Court documents, and the 

relevant case law, the Court finds WPX has a strong likelihood of success on at least one of their 

claims against the Defendants.  Consequently, the Court finds WPX has demonstrated the “success 

on the merits” factor weighs in favor of the issuance of a preliminary injunction. 

    

 2. IRREPARABLE HARM 

 

 WPX must establish there is a threat of irreparable harm if injunctive relief is not granted, 

and that such harm is not compensable by an award of money damages.  Doe v. LaDue, 514 F. 

Supp. 2d 1131, 1135 (D. Minn. 2007).  “The ‘mere possibility’ that harm may occur before a trial 

on the merits is not enough.”  MKB Mgmt. Corp. v. Burdick, 954 F. Supp. 2d 900, 912 (D.N.D. 

2013).  The party that seeks a preliminary injunction must show that a significant risk of harm 

exists.  Id.  The absence of such a showing is sufficient grounds to deny injunctive relief.  Id.  

 WPX argues it will suffer irreparable harm if forced to litigate in Tribal Court, which this 

Court has determined lacks jurisdiction.  The Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals has explained that 

a district court can presume irreparable harm if the movant has a likelihood of success on the 

merits.  Calvin Klein Cosmetics Corp., 815 F.2d at 505 (citing Black Hills Jewelry Mfg. Co. v. 

Gold Rush, Inc., 633 F.2d 746, 753  (8th Cir. 1980)).  Other courts have concluded a movant would 
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suffer irreparable harm if forced to litigate in a tribal court that likely does not have jurisdiction.  

See Crowe & Dunleavy, P.C. v. Stidham, 640 F.3d 1140, 1157-58 (10th Cir. 2011) (finding the 

movant had demonstrated irreparable harm because the tribal court likely lacked jurisdiction and 

there would be no realistic way to recoup fees expended in tribal court).  Consequently, WPX 

would suffer irreparable harm if forced to expend time, effort, and money in a forum that lacks 

jurisdiction.  The Court finds this Dataphase factor weighs in favor of granting a preliminary 

injunction.   

 

  3. BALANCE OF HARMS 

 As outlined above, WPX has demonstrated the threat of irreparable harm.  The balance of 

harm factor requires consideration of the balance between the harm to the movant and the injury 

the injunction’s issuance would inflict on other interested parties.  See Pottgen v. Mo. State High 

Sch. Activities Ass’n, 40 F.3d 926, 929 (8th Cir. 1994).  While the irreparable harm factor focuses 

on the harm or potential harm to the plaintiff, the balance of harm factor analysis examines the 

harm to all parties to the dispute and other interested parties, including the public.  See Dataphase, 

640 F.2d at 114; Glenwood Bridge, Inc. v. City of Minneapolis, 940 F.2d 367, 372 (8th Cir. 1991). 

 If the Court does not issue a preliminary injunction preventing the Tribal Court Plaintiffs 

from proceeding in Tribal Court, WPX will be required to defend against the underlying action in 

a court which lacks jurisdiction over the matter.  However, if the Court issues a preliminary 

injunction, the Tribal Court Plaintiffs may no longer proceed with their Tribal Court action and 

must pursue their claims in a different forum.  However, they are not left without a remedy.  

Although the tribal court venue would be foreclosed, nothing prevents them from bringing their 
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claims in federal district court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331.  Therefore, the Court finds this 

Dataphase factor weighs in favor of granting a preliminary injunction.  

 

 

  4. PUBLIC INTEREST 

  Avoiding duplicative legal proceedings in multiple venues is in the public interest.  

However, the Court is also mindful that it is in the public interest to preserve tribal court 

adjudicative authority over issues affecting a tribe’s internal relations and protecting tribal self-

governance.  Therefore, the Court finds this factor is neutral.  Nonetheless, after a careful review 

of the entire record and the Dataphase factors, the Court finds the Plaintiffs have met their burden 

under Rule 65(a) of establishing the necessity of a preliminary injunction order.  

 

  IV. CONCLUSION 

 After a careful review of the entire record, and a careful consideration of all of the 

Dataphase factors, the Court finds the Dataphase factors, when viewed in their totality, clearly 

weigh in favor of the issuance of a preliminary injunction.  The Plaintiffs have met their burden of 

establishing the necessity of a preliminary injunction.   

 The Court GRANTS WPX’s motion for preliminary injunction (Doc. No. 26), and 

ORDERS Defendants Gabriel Fettig, Howard Fettig, Charles Fettig, and Morgen Fettig be 

enjoined from further prosecuting the underlying action in the Three Affiliated Tribes District 

Court and Defendants Judge B.J. Jones, in his capacity as Associate Judge of the Three Affiliated 

Tribes District Court, and the Three Affiliated Tribes District Court, enjoined from exercising 

jurisdiction over the underlying Tribal Court action until a final determination of the Plaintiffs’ 
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claims in federal court.  Further, the Court DENIES the Tribal Court Defendants’ and the Fettigs’ 

motions to dismiss (Doc. Nos. 19 and 28). 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

 Dated this 20th day of April, 2022. 

      /s/ Daniel L. Hovland                                                 

      Daniel L. Hovland, District Judge 

      United States District Court 
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